Project Report

How Important are Attitudes in Travel Behavior Models? A Comprehensive Review

Prepared for Teaching Old Models New Tricks (TOMNET) Transportation Center











By,

Matthew Wigginton Conway Email: <u>mwconway@asu.edu</u>

Nathan Harness Email: nharness@asu.edu

Laura Mirtich Email: lmirtich@asu.edu

Alexis Ross Email: Alexis.J.Ross@asu.edu

Shuyao Hong Email: Shuyao.Hong@asu.edu

> **Deborah Salon** Email: <u>dsalon@asu.edu</u>

School of Geographical Sciences and Urban Planning Arizona State University Coor Hall, 5th floor 975 S. Myrtle Ave. Tempe, AZ 85287

October, 2019

TECHNICAL REPORT DOCUMENTATION PAGE

1. Report No. N/A	2. Government Accession No.	3. Recipient's Catalog	; No.	
4. Title and Subtitle		5. Report Date		
How important are attitudes in travel behavior models? A Comprehensive		October 2019		
Review		6. Performing Organization Code		
		N/A		
7. Author(s)		8. Performing Organization Report No.		
Matthew W. Conway, <u>https://orcid.org/0000-0002-1210-2982</u>		N/A		
Nathan Harness,				
Laura Mirtich, <u>https://orcid.org/0000-0002-046/-2934</u>				
Alexis Ross, Shuwa Hang https://aroid.aug/0000.0001.7280.2220				
Deborah Salon, https://orgid.org/0000-0				
9 Performing Organization Name and Address		10. Work Unit No. (TRAIS)		
School of Sustainable Engineering and the Built Environment		N/A		
Arizona State University		11. Contract or Grant No.		
Tempe, AZ, 85281		69A3551747116		
12. Sponsoring Agency Name and Address		13. Type of Report and Period Covered		
U.S. Department of Transportation,		Research Report		
University Transportation Centers Program,		(2018 – 2019)		
1200 New Jersey Ave, SE, Washington, DC 20590		14. Sponsoring Agency Code		
		USDOT OST-R		
15. Supplementary Notes N/A				
16. Abstract				
This project is a review of the literature on the relationship between attitudes and transportation choices. The literature is				
clear that, at least for some transportation choices among some populations, attitudes have strong associations with				
behavior. This raises the question of whether attitudinal variables should be included in the travel models that inform				
transportation decision making. Measuring attitudes and including them in models of travel behavior, however, is both				
expensive and challenging. We contribute with a focus on the questions of which attitudes are most important, for which				
transportation-related choices and populations, and how much do attitudinal variables improve the predictive power of				
travel behavior models. We also shed light on the relative success of different analytical methods and data collection				
protocols in helping us to understand these relationships.				
17. Key Words	18. Distribution Statement			
Attitudes; Travel Behavior; Travel Demand Modeling; Literature Review;		No restrictions.		
Residential Location Choice				
19. Security Classif.(of this report)	20. Security Classif.(of this page)	21. No. of Pages	22. Price	
Unclassified	Unclassified	17	N/A	

Reproduction of completed page authorized

DISCLAIMER

The contents of this report reflect the views of the authors, who are responsible for the facts and the accuracy of the information presented herein. This document is disseminated in the interest of information exchange. The report is funded, partially or entirely, by a grant from the U.S. Department of Transportation's University Transportation Centers Program. However, the U.S. Government assumes no liability for the contents or use thereof.

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

This study was funded by a grant from A USDOT Tier 1 University Transportation Center, supported by USDOT through the University Transportation Centers program. The authors would like to thank the TOMNET and USDOT for their support of university-based research in transportation, and especially for the funding provided in support of this project.

TABLE OF CONTENTS

TECHNICAL REPORT DOCUMENTATION PAGE	2
DISCLAIMER	3
ACKNOWLEDGMENTS	3
ABSTRACT	5
INTRODUCTION	5
HOW WE CHOSE THE PAPERS	5
HOW MUCH DO ATTITUDINAL VARIABLES IMPROVE THE PREDICTIVE POWER OF TRAVEL BEHAVIOR MODELS?	7
WHICH ATTITUDES ARE MOST IMPORTANT?	7
HOW DOES THE ATTITUDE-TRAVEL BEHAVIOR RESEARCH VARY BY GEOGRAPHY?	3
LONGITUDINAL VS. CROSS-SECTIONAL DESIGNS	l
PROMISING LINES OF RESEARCH	2
CONCLUSION AND RESEARCH AGENDA 12	2
REFERENCES	3
APPENDIX: LIST OF TRAVEL BEHAVIOR SEARCH TERMS USED 17	7

ABSTRACT

This project is a review of the literature on the relationship between attitudes and transportation choices. The literature is clear that, at least for some transportation choices among some populations, attitudes have strong associations with behavior. This raises the question of whether attitudinal variables should be included in the travel models that inform transportation decision making. Measuring attitudes and including them in models of travel behavior, however, is both expensive and challenging. We contribute with a focus on the questions of *which* attitudes are most important, for *which* transportation-related choices and populations, and *how much* do attitudinal variables improve the predictive power of travel behavior models. We also shed light on the relative success of different analytical methods and data collection protocols in helping us to understand these relationships.

INTRODUCTION

There is a large literature that aims to incorporate "attitudes" (which can also include habits, personality, and beliefs) into statistical models of transport and transport-related choices. Most of the papers in this literature find that attitudes are clearly associated with transport choices. Many also find that including attitudinal information substantially improves travel behavior prediction.

There is interest in transferring these insights to the realm of practical transportation planning and modeling. Measuring attitudes and including them in models of travel behavior, however, is both expensive and challenging. A major challenge is identifying the attitudes that should be measured, the best questions to measure them, and for which travel choices those attitudes are most likely to be important.

This paper reports on an ongoing review of the literature aiming to identify the relationship between attitudes and travel behavior. The first goal of this project is to extract from this literature the best answers we can to the questions of which attitudes are most important, for which transportation-related choices and populations, and how much do attitudinal variables improve the predictive power of travel behavior models. We also shed light on the relative success of different analytical methods and data collection protocols in helping us to understand these relationships.

A second practical goal in conducting this literature review is to identify a common set of attitudinal questions that could be asked across travel surveys, similar to the current common set of demographic and travel behavior questions. To this end, a companion product to this written literature review will be a public online database of all of the studies that we have included. The database that we are developing includes summary information about each paper, the survey questions used to create attitudinal variables and their factor loadings, and the results of the statistical models estimated. We hope that this database will become a useful resource for researchers working in this area, and that as researchers use this database to develop attitudinal survey questions, future research (both survey questions and factor analyses) will become more directly comparable.

Please note that this is a literature review in progress, rather than one that we consider fully completed. Therefore, there are certainly relevant papers from the literature that are not yet included in our reference list, and whose findings we have not yet incorporated into our narrative. That said, we do think that we have completed enough of a review of this literature to begin to draw conclusions about the questions we outlined above as the main goals of our study, which we present in this paper.

In reviewing this literature, our overwhelming finding thus far is that it is surprisingly heterogeneous along multiple dimensions. The attitudes measured and included in statistical analyses are heterogeneous across studies, even when the outcome of interest is similar. In addition, the survey questions used to measure attitudes are heterogeneous, even when the attitude being measured is similar. This heterogeneity in both the underlying attitudinal data and the research approach makes direct comparison across studies somewhat challenging.

The motivation for including attitudes in travel behavior models is also varied. Some authors have focused on the importance of attitudes themselves to improve travel behavior predictions (e.g. Vredin Johansson, Heldt and Johansson, 2006; Popuri *et al.*, 2011). Others have included attitudinal variables to "control" for residential self-selection in models of the relationships between travel and the built environment (e.g. Handy, Cao and Mokhtarian, 2006). This is important because which attitudes are included in models of travel behavior will depend on the purpose of including those attitudes.

The remainder of this paper begins by describing how we chose the papers that included in this review, and then continues with sections devoted to each of our main research questions:

- 1. How much do attitudes improve the predictive power of travel behavior models?
- 2. Which attitudes are most important?
- 3. How does the attitudes-travel behavior research vary by geography?

We then discuss important methodological themes in this literature and promising lines of research, and conclude with a summary and proposed future research agenda.

HOW WE CHOSE THE PAPERS

To identify papers to include in this literature review, we began by performing a set of searches using the Scopus research database. All searches included a requirement that the word "attitudes", "beliefs", or "perceptions" was mentioned in the title, abstract, or keywords. All searches also included a requirement that the words "factor analysis" or "principal component analysis" appeared somewhere in the full text of the article. The searches differed, then, by the travel-related keywords, which are listed in the Appendix.

These searches identified hundreds of candidate journal articles for inclusion in this review. To select articles for inclusion in this review, we used the following additional criteria:

- The sample size must be 300 or greater.
- The analysis must include at least 2 sociodemographic controls.
- The analysis must include either factor analysis or principal component analysis *and* a model to estimate the relationship between attitudes and travel choices.
- The paper must not be primarily focused on long distance travel and evacuation travel, autonomous vehicles, or children's travel.

We chose to only include papers that used factor analysis or principal components analysis because we feel these are the appropriate methods to analyze attitudinal data. Generally, attitudes are collected through surveys where respondents rate their agreement or disagreement with a battery of Likert-scaled questions. These questions are not the attitudes themselves, but rather indicators of the attitudes, while the underlying attitudes are some less tangible such as "pro-environment." Factor analysis uses these indicators to recover the underlying, latent, intangible attitudes, which can then be used in models of travel behavior.

HOW MUCH DO ATTITUDINAL VARIABLES IMPROVE THE PREDICTIVE POWER OF TRAVEL BEHAVIOR MODELS?

Almost all studies reviewed identified at least one statistically significant association between an attitudinal variable and a travel behavior outcome. As modern planners call upon large capital expenditures and labor mobilizations it is necessary to prioritize certain public investments over others. Planners make these choices based off of the results of travel demand models to maximize the utility provided for the public. Improved statistical models of demand thus increase the efficiency by which transport projects contribute to society, and attitudinal factors and the analysis thereof represent a possible avenue by which to improve demand models and thus planning effectiveness.

Some researchers perform their analyses twice, once with attitudes and once without (Kitamura, Mokhtarian and Laidet, 1997; Kuppam, Pendyala and Rahman, 1999; Akar and Clifton, 2009; Cao, Mokhtarian and Handy, 2009; Popuri *et al.*, 2011; Maldonado-Hinarejos, Sivakumar and Polak, 2014; Ettema and Nieuwenhuis, 2017; Park and Akar, 2019). This allows us to directly evaluate how much attitudes improve predictive power. Of these studies, all found significantly improved predictive power with the addition of attitudinal factors. This practice is the most important tool we have to identify the importance of attitudinal factors, as it allows us to directly evaluate how much attitudes improve predictive power. Presently, there is an insufficient body of research using this method that enables direct measurement of attitudinal predictive power for strong conclusions. Going forward the addition of literature including otherwise-identical models with and without attitudes will be paramount to continuing research on this topic.

While we cannot directly evaluate the improvement in model fit in papers where authors did not fit a model without attitudes, we can evaluate whether attitudinal variables were statistically significant in models also controlling for sociodemographics. Our review of the literature suggests that attitudinal factors are more often a significant determinant of travel behaviour than not.

Unfortunately, much of the literature is insufficient to make strong conclusions. Many models fail to control for at least one important demographic factor (age, gender, income, household size, etc.). Others use analytical methods which enlarge significance. In particular, stepwise regression is common in this literature, but is known to lead to findings attributable to sampling error and which cannot be replicated (Thompson, 1995). Thus, we cannot say with certainty that attitudes would improve predictive power if added to an existing model with a full complement of sociodemographics. However, the fact that attitudes were almost universally significant suggests they would.

In order to better evaluate whether attitudes improve model predictive power, researchers should always include models both with and without attitudes, but with the same control variables, and compare their goodness of fit. Furthermore, researchers should include a broad array of sociodemographic control variables in their models, to evaluate whether attitudes make a separate contribution to predictive power.

WHICH ATTITUDES ARE MOST IMPORTANT?

Most literature gauged individual attitudes by asking survey respondents to evaluate various statements; these statements are then grouped and/or labelled as an attitude for modeling a transport behavioral outcome. Because of the lack of a universal way of asking attitudinal statements and conducting factor analysis, it is challenging to generalize the effects of attitudes. However, there are some common attitudes that have been frequently included in the literature.

When predicting mode choice behaviour in general, the most important attitudinal factor is the attitude towards the mode of interest. Positive attitudes towards a travel mode increase the likelihood of using the chosen mode and decrease the likelihood of choosing other modes. For instance, pro-automobile/pro-driving attitudes are negatively associated with the use of non-motorized modes (De Vos, Ettema and Witlox, 2018; Zhao *et al.*, 2018) and public transportation (Ettema and Nieuwenhuis, 2017), while positively associated with driving and VMT (Handy, Cao and Mokhtarian, 2005; Ettema and Nieuwenhuis, 2017). Attitudes such as "pro-bike" or "pro-walk" are positively associated with biking and walking (Cao, Mokhtarian and Handy, 2007; Maldonado-Hinarejos, Sivakumar and Polak, 2014; De Vos, Ettema and Witlox, 2018; Park and Akar, 2019) and negatively associated with driving (e.g. Handy, Cao and Mokhtarian, 2005).

A wide variety of attitudinal constructs that are not simple mode preferences also appear in this literature. The most common of these include environmental awareness/concern (Kitamura, Mokhtarian and Laidet, 1997; de Abreu e Silva, 2014; Jomnonkwao *et al.*, 2016; Kim, Rasouli and Timmermans, 2017; Mohamed *et al.*, 2018), the importance and perceptions of safety (Handy, Cao and Mokhtarian, 2005; Cao, Mokhtarian and Handy, 2007; Aditjandra, Mulley and Nelson, 2010; Jomnonkwao *et al.*, 2016; Park and Akar, 2019), the importance and perceptions of convenience (Barajas, 2019; Kuppam, Pendyala and Rahman, 1999; Jomnonkwao *et al.*, 2016), and preferences about neighborhood/built environment factors (Frank *et al.*, 2007; Park and Akar, 2019; Kitamura, Mokhtarian and Laidet, 1997). Non-motorized mode choices are generally positively associated with environmental awareness/concern, and driving choices are often negatively associated with this attitudinal construct.

Attitudinal constructs about the safety and convenience of travel are sometimes specific to a particular mode of travel and represent perceptions of safety and convenience of a particular mode. Other times, attitudinal constructs about safety and convenience are not mode-specific, and instead represent survey respondents' attitudes about the importance of these factors in their travel decisionmaking. These different attitudinal constructs of safety and convenience naturally have different relationships with mode choices. Interestingly, the studies included in this review tend to use only one of these constructs, when conceptually both might be independently important in predicting travel behavior.

Studies that include attitudinal constructs that measure preferences about neighborhood type or built environment characteristics usually do so with the goal of controlling for residential self selection in their analysis of travel behavior. The goal of these studies, then, is not to estimate the extent to which attitudes generally predict travel choices, but rather to reduce bias in estimates of travel choices. There are a few studies—notably one seminal study in this literature by Kitamura, Mokhtarian, and Laidet (1997)—that aim to do both.

HOW DOES THE ATTITUDE-TRAVEL BEHAVIOR RESEARCH VARY BY GEOGRAPHY?

Research on how attitudes affect travel behavior spans the globe. Given different historical, cultural, and transport contexts, we expect that there may be some differences in research in different locations. We found that the focus of the research differs by region. The following section describes the different foci of research in Asia, Europe, and North America. We have not yet reviewed sufficient studies from Africa, South America, or Australia to make specific conclusions about research in these regions.

In research on Asia, there are two main foci. The first one is car use and future car ownership. While one of the largest predictors of mode choice is whether or not a person currently

owns a car, He and Thøgersen (2017) found that if they do not currently own a car but have a positive attitude towards cars then they are more likely to intend to purchase a car in the future. Guan and Wang (2019) found that a male head of household holds more power in the choice of residential location and car ownership, but that wives exert more influence on both their own and their husbands' commute distance. Kim et al. (2015) found that attitudes were predominantly relevant in predicting the use of using an shared electric vehicle, but not when it came to owning an electric vehicle. In Japan the desire to buy a car is low but the attitudes towards cars is positively related to the intention to commute by car (Van, Choocharukul and Fujii, 2014). This focus on car ownership, sharing, and usage may initially seem surprising since traffic congestion is generally high and car ownership relatively lower than elsewhere in the world. However, Asia is motorizing rapidly—China is now the world's largest auto market, for example (Wang, Liao and Hein, 2012)—explaining this focus. Many people in Asia are now making the decision to purchase a vehicle for the first time.

Much of the research on the link between attitudes and travel is based in Europe. While the breadth of European research covers most topics of travel analysis, in particular many studies of relocation were conducted here. These studies examine people who have recently changed their residential location to try to separate the effects of the built environment from the effects of attitudes—assuming that their attitudes have remained relatively constant over time, while a change in their built environment has been observed due to relocation. These studies find that people moving to more urban areas, with more street life, use the car less (Aditjandra, Mulley and Nelson, 2010; De Vos, Ettema and Witlox, 2018; Klinger and Lanzendorf, 2016). Wolday, Cao, and Næss (2018) found that other factors often trump travel attitudes when making a residential location choice, suggesting that residential relocations are not excessively conditioned on travel attitudes and therefore these studies likely are somewhat successful at isolating the effects of attitudes and the built environment on travel behavior. Ettema and Niewenhuis (2017) confirm that travel-related attitudes and travel-related reasons for residential location choice are only weakly correlated.

Relocation studies can also allow evaluating the bidirectional relationship between attitudes and travel. De Vos, Ettema, and Witlox (2018) found that attitudes as well as travel behavior changed in response to a change in the residential location. These relocation studies are promising because they help isolate the effects of the built environment from travel attitudes, although self-selection is still a concern. The approach of Ettema and Niewenhuis (2017) of directly asking respondents whether they considered different travel options when making their residential location choice is a good one that should be replicated in other studies of relocation.

Another significant area of research in Europe is bicycling, and what attitudes and built environment characteristics influence a person's decision to bike over driving or public transit. This focus is unsurprising, given the high bicycle mode share in many western European countries (Buehler and Pucher, 2012). Attitudes are significant determinants of cycling in many studies, though not all attitudinal statements were significant in all studies (Barberan, de Abreu e Silva and Monzon, 2017; Klinger and Lanzendorf, 2016; Curto *et al.*, 2016; Lois, Moriano and Rondinella, 2015). Perception of safety when cycling is a key predictor of cycling, significant in three of the four papers (Barberan, de Abreu e Silva and Monzon, 2017; Lois, Moriano and Rondinella, 2015; Curto *et al.*, 2016). In contrast, Klinger and Lanzendorf (2016) found that a perception of a cycling culture in a city was the most important attitudinal factor predicting cycling use, and note that the uptick in German cycling has been relatively independent of infrastructure investment. Unlike other modes, they found that residential preference and self-selection strongly have little impact

on cycling behavior. In summary, safety and cycling culture seem to be important determinants of cycling usage in Europe, a finding unlikely to differ in other contexts.

North American research has focused on the mode choice decision. This makes sense in a North American context, as car ownership is near-ubiquitous unlike in Asia, and the landscape is largely suburban leaving less opportunity for people to move between suburban and urban locations as in European relocation studies. In general attitudes are a significant predictor of the way a person travels (e.g. Kitamura, Mokhtarian and Laidet, 1997; Kuppam, Pendyala and Rahman, 1999; Barajas, 2019). Neighborhoods and their built environment characteristics also have an impact, with traditional neighborhoods associated with increased walking and bicycle use and less driving (Handy, Cao and Mokhtarian, 2005; Frank *et al.*, 2007). These studies all strongly suggest that including attitudinal factors in mode choice models improves their predictive power.

A key focus in the North American literature on mode choice has been the question of selfselection: does the built environment actually matter for travel behavior, or is it just that people who travel by non-auto modes prefer certain built environments? Cao, Mokhtarian, and Handy (2009) review many studies on this effect, including many from North America, and conclude that while the self-selection effect is real, the built environment has effects as well.

After a brief review of research done in the three largest regions, we can conclude that research in these regions differs in primary focus. Asia has a lot of focus on car use, car ownership, and willingness to buy a car in the future. In Europe, much research focuses on exploiting residential relocation to understand self-selection effects. How attitudes affect mode choice and neighborhood type is the focus of much North American research. Attitudes were found to be important in all of the regions, though the type or topic of the attitudes did vary.

Few researchers have made direct comparisons of the effect of attitudes on travel between regions. Post hoc comparisons are difficult because the questions and methodology used in different studies is highly variable, so it is impossible to know whether differences in results between studies of different regions are due to methodological differences or true regional differences. Aditjandra, Mulley and Nelson (2010) is an exception. They used the same survey instrument as Handy, Cao, and Mokhtarian (2005), but deployed it in Britain, and compared the results to Handy, Cao, and Mokhtarian's US results. They found that the underlying attitudinal factors differed in the US and Britain, with British respondents having an underlying attitude towards public transport that was not seen in the US. Furthermore, British respondents rated the attractiveness of suburban neighborhoods higher than traditional neighborhoods, while in the US the opposite effect was observed. Finally, several built-environment factors were significant in the British study, while none were in the Handy, Cao, and Mokhtarian's US result.

Van, Choocharukul, and Fujii (2014) deployed a survey across six Asian countries and compared the results. They found that attitudes towards car usage were strongly predictive of car commuting in countries where there is relatively low intention to use the car, but that in countries where more people intend to use cars these attitudes are less important—suggesting that local context matters in this decision. In the US, Moody and Zhao (2019) compared New York and Houston, and found that attitudes towards being proud of one's car or seeing it as a status symbol were higher in New York than in Houston.

Comparisons between regions are important for travel modelers who may wish to transfer a survey or model from one region to another. Thus, it is important that more studies be done to facilitate this comparison—either replication studies using the methods and survey questions of previous studies in new locations, or studies where the same methods and survey are deployed in multiple locations.

LONGITUDINAL VS. CROSS-SECTIONAL DESIGNS

When examining methodological trends in travel behavior literature, one tendency becomes immediately apparent even before inspecting the effects of methodology on study findings. This is the notable lack of longitudinal studies. Of the literature reviewed, only 3 studies were longitudinal (Barberan, de Abreu e Silva and Monzon, 2017; Kamruzzaman *et al.*, 2013; Wang and Chen, 2012). This imbalance may lead to skewed results in the body of literature as a whole, since longitudinal studies may produce different findings than cross-sectional ones.

Among the few longitudinal studies we have read, all found attitudes to be more important predictors of travel behavior than sociodemographics and/or the built environment for some, if not all, of their outcome variables. A review by Cao, Mokhtarian, and Handy (2009) found a contrasting result: longitudinal studies generally find the built environment to be significant, but often find attitudes to be insignificant. Cross-sectional studies gave rise to a variety of results: attitudes could be more significant (de Abreu e Silva, 2014; Barajas, 2019; Cao, Handy and Mokhtarian, 2006; Jomnonkwao *et al.*, 2016) or less significant (Akar and Clifton, 2009; Ao *et al.*, 2019; Mokhtarian and Salomon, 1997) than other explanatory variables in models of travel behavior. In any case, it seems likely the results of longitudinal studies may differ from those of cross-sectional studies. Since longitudinal studies allow for robust investigation of change in attitudes and behavior over time, and may produce different results than cross-sectional studies, their rarity in this literature is a concern.

Not all survey methods are neatly classified as longitudinal or cross-sectional. There is a substantial body of literature that is "quasi-longitudinal." Here, we define this term to refer to a survey in which data is only collected at one point in time, but respondents are asked to recall previous attitudes or behavior. For example, a quasi-longitudinal study may ask residents of a neighborhood with recently improved transit access about how their travel behavior has changed since transit access increased. Quasi-longitudinal studies are about as common as longitudinal studies in the literature, with 4 instances found in the studies surveyed here (De Vos, Ettema and Witlox, 2018; Cao, Mokhtarian and Handy, 2007; Handy, Cao and Mokhtarian, 2005; Klinger and Lanzendorf, 2016). Like cross-sectional studies, these papers did not collectively display conclusive trends about the importance of attitudes in travel behavior models. One of the more notable papers from this group is a survey in which a quasi-longitudinal method and a crosssectional method are used to investigate the same research question, and the results are compared (Handy, Cao and Mokhtarian, 2005). The authors concluded that both methods found attitudes to be significant, but only the quasi-longitudinal methods found the built environment to be significant as well. Studies of this nature are a valuable addition to the literature, since they allow two analysis methods to be compared while controlling for possible confounding variables in the experimental design such as survey instrument, population studied, and outcome variable. More papers that employ this method of comparison, as well as more longitudinal and quasi-longitudinal studies in general, could potentially clarify the effect of survey method on findings.

The absence of a robust set of longitudinal studies, in addition to making methodological comparisons difficult, also prevents the exploration of an important avenue of investigation. One unanswered question within the literature is the directionality of causal relationships between behavior and attitudes. Attitudes are commonly assumed to cause behavior (Ajzen, 1985; Guan and Wang, 2019; Cao, Mokhtarian and Handy, 2007; He and Thøgersen, 2017; Mohamed *et al.*, 2018), but an increasing number of studies note the potential for a bidirectional relationship (de Abreu e Silva, 2014; Barajas, 2019; Moody and Zhao, 2019; Wang and Chen, 2012). Cross-

sectional studies are capable of showing correlations, but longitudinal studies are the best way to robustly examine causal relationships to clarify this area of ambiguity.

PROMISING LINES OF RESEARCH

This review identified a number of promising lines of research that should be continued. As mentioned above, longitudinal analyses are lacking. While these analyses are difficult to conduct, they are highly promising for a number of reasons. First of all, it remains unclear whether people's attitudes inform their behavior, or their behavior informs their attitudes. The dominant theoretical framework in this literature is the Theory of Planned Behavior, which suggests that attitudes inform and affect behavior (Ajzen, 1985). However, the competing Theory of Cognitive Dissonance predicts that people may adjust either their behavior or their attitudes to achieve consonance between them (Festinger, 1962). Longitudinal designs are the best method to uncover how attitudes and behaviors change over time.

Another promising line of research is studies of residential 'consonants' and 'dissonants' people who do or do not live in a built environment matching their preferences. These studies are valuable because they allow us to separate the influence of attitudes and the built environment on travel behavior. Even when they live in low-density suburban neighborhoods, people who have a preference for higher-density environs already walk more than their neighbors who are happy with their low-density environment (Frank *et al.*, 2007). Transit-oriented development residents who dislike their environment are more likely to drive to work than residents of other environments who would prefer a transit-oriented development (Kamruzzaman, Baker and Turrell, 2015). These findings suggest that attitudes may be more important than built environment factors in determining travel. However, vehicle miles traveled is similar across consonants and dissonants in suburban locations, suggesting that attitudes may matter more for some travel outcomes than others (Schwanen and Mokhtarian, 2005; Frank *et al.*, 2007). This suggests that attitudes may matter more for certain travel choices than they do for others. Dissonance studies allow untangling attitudes and contextual variables; this valuable line of research should be continued.

CONCLUSION AND RESEARCH AGENDA

Attitudes show significant promise for improving predictions of travel behavior. When included in models, they are almost always statistically significant, and are often more important than sociodemographic or built-environment variables. When compared with models excluding attitudes, models including attitudes generally have better goodness of fit and predictive power. All of this suggests that collecting and including attitudinal variables in travel models has the potential to improve these models and the decisions made based on them.

However, many challenges and opportunities for future research remain. Few researchers have directly compared otherwise-identical models with and without attitudes, which is the best way to know for sure that attitudes significantly contribute to the predictive power of the model. Furthermore, many researchers do not include a full set of sociodemographic controls in their models, making it impossible to know whether the attitudes they include are serving as proxies for the sociodemographics they omitted. This is a critical question for transport modeling practitioners; to justify the time and expense of collecting, analyzing, and including attitudes in travel models, modellers must be sure that the results will improve their models. While the existing body of literature points strongly in this direction, future research should include a full set of sociodemographic controls and compare models with and without attitudes in order to directly address this question.

In addition, heterogeneity in the way that travel behavior researchers have measured attitudes and included them as predictors in their statistical models makes it difficult to compare across studies or draw broad conclusions from this literature that are useful for policymaking. Therefore, we suggest that future researchers endeavor to use attitudinal questions and constructs that have been developed and used by prior research teams, facilitating comparability of results across studies, geographical and cultural contexts, and analysis methods. The soon-to-be-public database of attitudinal survey questions and constructs that this research team is developing will serve as a resource to facilitate this practice.

REFERENCES

- de Abreu e Silva, J. (2014) 'Spatial self-selection in land-use travel behavior interactions: Accounting simultaneously for attitudes and socioeconomic characteristics', *Journal of Transport and Land Use*, 7(2), pp. 63–84. doi: 10.5198/jtlu.v7i2.696.
- Aditjandra, P. T., Mulley, C. A. and Nelson, J. D. (2010) 'Neighbourhood design impact on travel behavior: A comparison of US and UK experience', *Projections*, (9), pp. 28–56.
- Ajzen, I. (1985) 'From Intentions to Actions: A Theory of Planned Behavior', in *Action Control*. Berlin, Heidelberg: Springer, Berlin, Heidelberg, pp. 11–39. doi: 10.1007/978-3-642-69746-3_2.
- Akar, G. and Clifton, K.J. (2009) 'Influence of individual perceptions and bicycle infrastructure on decision to bike', *Transportation Research Record*, 2140, pp. 165–172. doi: 10.3141/2140-18.
- Ao, Y. *et al.* (2019) 'Effects of rural built environment on travel-related CO2 emissions considering travel attitudes', *Transportation Research Part D: Transport and Environment*, 73, pp. 187–204. doi: 10.1016/j.trd.2019.07.004.
- Barajas, J. M. (2019) 'Perceptions, People, and Places: Influences on Cycling for Latino Immigrants and Implications for Equity', *Journal of Planning Education and Research*, p. 0739456X19864714. doi: 10.1177/0739456X19864714.
- Barberan, A., de Abreu e Silva, J. and Monzon, A. (2017) 'Factors influencing bicycle use: A binary choice model with panel data', in. *Transportation Research Procedia*, pp. 253–260. doi: 10.1016/j.trpro.2017.12.097.
- Buehler, R. and Pucher, J. (2012) 'International overview: Cycling trends in Western Europe, North America, and Australia', in *City cycling*. Cambridge, MA: MIT Press, pp. 9–29.
- Cao, X., Handy, S. L. and Mokhtarian, P. L. (2006) 'The influences of the built environment and residential self-selection on pedestrian behavior: Evidence from Austin, TX', *Transportation*, 33(1), pp. 1–20. doi: 10.1007/s11116-005-7027-2.
- Cao, X. (J.), Mokhtarian, P. L. and Handy, S. L. (2009) 'The relationship between the built environment and nonwork travel: A case study of Northern California', *Transportation Research Part A: Policy and Practice*, 43(5), pp. 548–559. doi: 10.1016/j.tra.2009.02.001.
- Cao, X., Mokhtarian, P. L. and Handy, S. L. (2007) 'Do changes in neighborhood characteristics lead to changes in travel behavior? A structural equations modeling approach', *Transportation*, 34(5), pp. 535–556. doi: 10.1007/s11116-007-9132-x.
- Cao, X., Mokhtarian, P. L. and Handy, S. L. (2009) 'Examining the impacts of residential selfselection on travel behaviour: A focus on empirical findings', *Transport Reviews*, 29(3), pp. 359–395. doi: 10.1080/01441640802539195.

- Curto, A. *et al.* (2016) 'Private and public modes of bicycle commuting: A perspective on attitude and perception', *European Journal of Public Health*, 26(4), pp. 717–723. doi: 10.1093/eurpub/ckv235.
- De Vos, J., Ettema, D. and Witlox, F. (2018) 'Changing travel behaviour and attitudes following a residential relocation', *Journal of Transport Geography*, 73, pp. 131–147. doi: 10.1016/j.jtrangeo.2018.10.013.
- Ettema, D. and Nieuwenhuis, R. (2017) 'Residential self-selection and travel behaviour: What are the effects of attitudes, reasons for location choice and the built environment?', *Journal of Transport Geography*, 59, pp. 146–155. doi: 10.1016/j.jtrangeo.2017.01.009.
- Festinger, L. (1962) *A Theory of Cognitive Dissonance*. Stanford, CA, USA: Stanford University Press.
- Frank, L. D. *et al.* (2007) 'Stepping towards causation: Do built environments or neighborhood and travel preferences explain physical activity, driving, and obesity?', *Social Science & Medicine*, 65(9), pp. 1898–1914. doi: 10.1016/j.socscimed.2007.05.053.
- Guan, X. and Wang, D. (2019) 'Residential self-selection in the built environment-travel behavior connection: Whose self-selection?', *Transportation Research Part D: Transport and Environment*, 67, pp. 16–32. doi: 10.1016/j.trd.2018.10.015.
- Handy, S., Cao, X. and Mokhtarian, P. (2005) 'Correlation or causality between the built environment and travel behavior? Evidence from Northern California', *Transportation Research Part D: Transport and Environment*, 10(6), pp. 427–444. doi: 10.1016/j.trd.2005.05.002.
- Handy, S., Cao, X. and Mokhtarian, P. L. (2006) 'Self-Selection in the Relationship between the Built Environment and Walking: Empirical Evidence from Northern California', *Journal of the American Planning Association*, 72(1), pp. 55–74. doi: 10.1080/01944360608976724.
- He, S. Y. and Thøgersen, J. (2017) 'The impact of attitudes and perceptions on travel mode choice and car ownership in a Chinese megacity: The case of Guangzhou', *Research in Transportation Economics*, 62, pp. 57–67. doi: 10.1016/j.retrec.2017.03.004.
- Jomnonkwao, S. *et al.* (2016) 'Public transport promotion policy on campus: evidence from Suranaree University in Thailand', *Public Transport*, 8(2), pp. 185–203. doi: 10.1007/s12469-016-0122-2.
- Kamruzzaman, M. *et al.* (2013) 'Residential dissonance and mode choice', *Journal of Transport Geography*, 33, pp. 12–28. doi: 10.1016/j.jtrangeo.2013.09.004.
- Kamruzzaman, M., Baker, D. and Turrell, G. (2015) 'Do dissonants in transit oriented development adjust commuting travel behaviour?', *European Journal of Transport and Infrastructure Research*, 15(1), pp. 66–77.
- Kim, D., Ko, J. and Park, Y. (2015) 'Factors affecting electric vehicle sharing program participants' attitudes about car ownership and program participation', *Transportation Research Part D: Transport and Environment*, 36, pp. 96–106. doi: 10.1016/j.trd.2015.02.009.
- Kim, J., Rasouli, S. and Timmermans, H. J. P. (2017) 'The effects of activity-travel context and individual attitudes on car-sharing decisions under travel time uncertainty: A hybrid choice modeling approach', *Transportation Research Part D: Transport and Environment*, 56, pp. 189–202. doi: 10.1016/j.trd.2017.07.022.
- Kitamura, R., Mokhtarian, P. L. and Laidet, L. (1997) 'A micro-analysis of land use and travel in five neighborhoods in the San Francisco Bay Area', *Transportation*, 24(2), pp. 125–158. doi: 10.1023/A:1017959825565.

- Klinger, T. and Lanzendorf, M. (2016) 'Moving between mobility cultures: what affects the travel behavior of new residents?', *Transportation*, 43(2), pp. 243–271. doi: 10.1007/s11116-014-9574-x.
- Kuppam, A., Pendyala, R. M. and Rahman, S. (1999) 'Analysis of the role of traveler attitudes and perceptions in explaining mode-choice behavior', ... *Record: Journal of the* ..., 1676, pp. 68–76. doi: 10.3141/1676-09.
- Lois, D., Moriano, J. A. and Rondinella, G. (2015) 'Cycle commuting intention: A model based on theory of planned behaviour and social identity', *Transportation Research Part F: Traffic Psychology and Behaviour*, 32, pp. 101–113. doi: 10.1016/j.trf.2015.05.003.
- Maldonado-Hinarejos, R., Sivakumar, A. and Polak, J. W. (2014) 'Exploring the role of individual attitudes and perceptions in predicting the demand for cycling: a hybrid choice modelling approach', *Transportation*, 41(6), pp. 1287–1304. doi: 10.1007/s11116-014-9551-4.
- Mohamed, M. *et al.* (2018) 'The influence of vehicle body type in shaping behavioural intention to acquire electric vehicles: A multi-group structural equation approach', *Transportation Research Part A: Policy and Practice*, 116, pp. 54–72. doi: 10.1016/j.tra.2018.05.011.
- Mokhtarian, P. L. and Salomon, I. (1997) 'Modeling the desire to telecommute: The importance of attitudinal factors in behavioral models', *Transportation Research Part A: Policy and ...*, 31(1), pp. 35–50. doi: 10.1016/S0965-8564(96)00010-9.
- Moody, J. and Zhao, J. (2019) 'Car pride and its bidirectional relations with car ownership: Case studies in New York City and Houston', *Transportation Research Part A: Policy and Practice*, 124, pp. 334–353. doi: 10.1016/j.tra.2019.04.005.
- Park, Y. and Akar, G. (2019) 'Understanding the effects of individual attitudes, perceptions, and residential neighborhood types on university commuters' bicycling decisions', *Journal of Transport and Land Use*, 12(1), pp. 419–441. doi: 10.5198/jtlu.2019.1259.
- Popuri, Y. *et al.* (2011) 'Importance of traveler attitudes in the choice of public transportation to work: findings from the Regional Transportation Authority Attitudinal Survey', *Transportation*, 38(4), pp. 643–661. doi: 10.1007/s11116-011-9336-y.
- Schwanen, T. and Mokhtarian, P. L. (2005) 'What affects commute mode choice: Neighborhood physical structure or preferences toward neighborhoods?', *Journal of Transport Geography*, 13(1 SPEC. ISS.), pp. 83–99. doi: 10.1016/j.jtrangeo.2004.11.001.
- Thompson, B. (1995) 'Stepwise regression and stepwise discriminant analysis need not apply here: A guidelines editorial', *Educational and Psychological Measurement*, 55(4), pp. 525–534. doi: 10.1177/0013164495055004001.
- Van, H. T., Choocharukul, K. and Fujii, S. (2014) 'The effect of attitudes toward cars and public transportation on behavioral intention in commuting mode choice-A comparison across six Asian countries', *Transportation Research Part A: Policy and Practice*, 69, pp. 36–44. doi: 10.1016/j.tra.2014.08.008.
- Vredin Johansson, M., Heldt, T. and Johansson, P. (2006) 'The effects of attitudes and personality traits on mode choice', *Transportation Research Part A: Policy and Practice*, 40(6), pp. 507–525. doi: 10.1016/j.tra.2005.09.001.
- Wang, A., Liao, W. and Hein, A.-P. (2012) Bigger, better, broader: A perspective on China's auto market in 2020. McKinsey, p. 16. Available at: https://www.uschina.org/sites/default/files/McKinsey_China%20Auto%20Market%202020.p df (Accessed: 30 October 2019).

- Wang, T. and Chen, C. (2012) 'Attitudes, mode switching behavior, and the built environment: A longitudinal study in the Puget Sound Region', *Transportation Research Part A: Policy and Practice*, 46(10), pp. 1594–1607. doi: 10.1016/j.tra.2012.08.001.
- Wolday, F., Cao, J. and Næss, P. (2018) 'Examining factors that keep residents with high transit preference away from transit-rich zones and associated behavior outcomes', *Journal of Transport Geography*, 66, pp. 224–234. doi: 10.1016/j.jtrangeo.2017.12.009.
- Zhao, C. *et al.* (2018) 'Cycling environmental perception in Beijing A study of residents' attitudes towards future cycling and car purchasing', *Transport Policy*, 66, pp. 96–106. doi: 10.1016/j.tranpol.2018.02.004.

APPENDIX: LIST OF TRAVEL BEHAVIOR SEARCH TERMS USED

- mode AND choice
- residential AND location
- (vehicle OR car) AND ownership
- (vehicle OR car) AND type
- (vehicle OR car) AND purchase
- residential AND self-selection
- "vehicle miles traveled" OR "vehicle kilometers traveled" OR "vehicle kilometres traveled" OR "VMT" OR "VKT"
- bicycling OR biking OR bicycle OR bike
- transit OR "public transport" OR "public transportation"